In the Court of Appeals for the State of Mississippi



John Paul Wallace

Appellant

V5.

Case no: 2007- CP-00766-COA

State of Mississippi

Respondent

Brief for the Appellant

Comes now, the Appellant, prose, to file with this court his brief in support of the Appellant. The Appellant files this brief pursuit to the mississippi Rules of Appellant Proceedure and prays this court will find ment in arguments presented.

Respectfully Submitted

John Pand Walles

John Paul Wallace



5.C.R.C.F.

1420 Industrial Park Road

Wiggins, Ms 39577

In the Court of Appeals for the State of Mississippi

John Paul Wallace

Appellant

V5.

Case no: 2007- CP- 00766- COA

State of Mississippi

Respondent

Statement of the Issues

Appellant seeks reveiw of Circut Courts denial of post-conviction motion where appellant felt he was denied effective assistance of Counsel under the Sixth Ammendment of the U.S. Constitution at the June 28, 2002 revocation hearing.

Statement of the Case

On Feb. 25, 2002, the appellant plead guilty to two (2) counts of explotation of child. The appellant was sentenced to five (5) years probation with ten (10) years suspended. At this hearing the appellant was asked by the court if he had used any illegal drugs and the appellant said "no". However the appellant lied at the hearing. (Records pg 23-27). The appellant reported to the probation office to give a wrine sample on March 8, 2002. This sample was found to be positive for THC (marijuana) on March 12, 2002 (Transcripts pg 20 lines 18-20). The probation officer filed a petition to revocate probation on March 19, 2002. The appellant was detained on March 19, 2002 and detainment lasted until the April 8, 2002 revocation hearing. At this hearing the appellant truthfully testified that he lied about the use of illegal drugs and stated that he stopped using illeagal drugs on Feb. 25, 2002 (Transcripts pg 2-3), the day of the pleading of guilty. The court allowed the appellant to remain an

Probation but fined the appellant (500) five hundred dollars for lying to the court. (Records pg. 30). On May 1, 2002 the appellant reported to the probation office and gave another wrine the sample. (Records pg. 30.0) This sample was removed from cold storage on May 3, 2002 by someone. (Records 300). The probation officer typed and signed a petition to revocate probation on May 5, 2002 alleging that on May 1, 2002 the appellant tested positive for THC. (Records pg 30A-B). A sample with the accession number 7170, which matches the chain of custody form, was tested and found to be positive for THC on May 6, 2002 (Records pg. 30C). A violation report was typed and signed by the probation officer on May 7, 2002. This report states the appellant the tested positive for THC on May 6, 2002 - (Records pg 30E). The appellant was detained on June 3, 2002 untill a June 28, 2002 revocation hearing. On June 20, 2002, the appellant gave another sample to be tested and this sample Lested negative for the presence of all Illegal drugs. (Transcripts ps 22 lines 24-25) The May 1, 2002 was also refested by an independent labratory and a "trace" of THC was detected using a "gold standard test". At the June 27, 2002 revocation hearing, consel did not call an expert witness to explain the results of the "gold standard test" and the states witness was not trained in this test. (Transcripts pg 12 lines 1-4) The appellant was believed to have violated the terms and condition of probation and sentence to 10 years with the mooc. On July 22, 2002, counsel filed a motion to reconsider. This motion was not filed within the time limits and the court had lost jurisdiction to hear this motion, (Records pg. 7 \$21) On Feb. 21, 2006 appellant filed a motion for post-conviction on the grounds of ineffective

assistance of counsel. The appellant alleged that counsel was deficient in failing to object to the states evidence, the test results from the May 1, 2002 sample, failing to call to the stand an expert witness, eliciting damaging evidence on cross examination, and failing to file motion for releif in a timely fashion. (Records pg 4-20) The trial judge denied the motion for post-conviction on March 29, 2007, (Records pg 2) and appeals this decision to the Mississippi (ourt of Appeals.

Summary of the Arguements

The appellant argues that he was denied effective assistance of counsel at the June 28, 2002 resocution hearing. Counsel's many errors prejudiced the Appellant under the sixth (6th) Amendment to the U.S. Constitution.

At the revocation hearing, counsel failed to investigate the MDOC policy concerning drug testing. Had counsel investigated these relevant facts, counsel would have had enough evidence to guestion the authenticity of the May, 1, 2002 sample. The petition to revocate probation raised even more guestions about the accuracy of the chain of custody, where it appears that the probation officer knew in advance that the sample would test positive for THC. Had counsel properly investigated the facts surrounding the case and learned the dates that everything happened, counsel would have nuticed the test on the Sample was done after the probation officer typedant signed

the petition to revocate and the dates differ from the Chain of custody. The most crucial break in the chain of custody, had counsel investigated it, was who picked up the sample and how did it get to the lab to be tested and was the security of the sample still intact when it was tested by the Lab technician, Huruld stanley. Counsel should have investigated these errors and objected to the use of the sample as evidence against his client. Due to the errors, an uncertainty of the security of the sample that was known by the probation officer to test positive a full day before the sample was tested would have been enough to exclude the test results into evidence under Mocco policy and state and federal law. Thus creating a different outcome at the revocation hearing.

Appellant also orgues that counsel failed to call an expert witness to the stand to corraborate the defense position instead of apting to relly on state witness to give counsel the answers he wanted, which did not happen, thus eliciting damaging evidence that THC will only stay in a persons system for 21 days. This information could have been found out well in advance of the hearing. Had counsel investigated the mode policy, counsel would have found evidence that contradicted the testimony of the state's witness where policy states 45 days to allow system to clear of drugs.

Counsel also failed to object to the use of the post sentence report as evidence due to the post-sentence report was not disclosed to the defense prior to the hearing.

After the hearing counsel understood his mistakes and filed

a "Motion to Reconsider" on the grounds of failing to call an expert witness. However this motion was filed after the deadline was expired and the court lost jurisdiction to hear the case. The appellant was prejudiced by this because trial court could not hear the facts of the case to make a fair and reasonable decision. This caused the appellant to seek post-conviction collateral reveius.

Legal Arguement

Mississippi Code Annotated 47-7-37 sets forth the proceedure for probation revocation in this state. This statue meets the minimal requirerments of due process as long as it is construed as inhearing to the due process requirements set forth in Morrissey u. Brewer 408 US 471, 33 L. Ed. 2d 484, 92 S. ct. 2593 (1972); Gagnon v. Scarpelli 411 US 778, 36 L. Ed. 2d 656, 93 5. ct. 1754 (1973); and Berdin v. State 648 So. 2d. 73 T. 76 HN2" The following procedural requirements are necessary for the final revocation hearing: 1) written notice of the violation 2) disclosure of the evidence against the probationer, 3) opprotunity for defendent to testify and to present witnesses and other evidence, w) right to confront and cross-examine witnesses, 5) nutral and detached hearing budy, and waritten statement of reasons for revucation and evidence rellied on. " citing Gagnon supra at 1761-62. "Theese requirements in themselfs serve as substantial protection against ill-considered revocation, what these requirements overlook is the effectioness

of the rights garenteed by Mornissey may in some Circumstances depend on the use of skills which the probationer is unlikely to posess. The introduction of counselinto a revocation hearing, will significantly after the nature of the proceeding. Counsel is bound by proffessional duty to present all available evidence and arguments in support of their clients' positions and to contest with vigor all adverse evidence and veiws". Gagnon supra 411 us 787

Strickland v. Washington 466 US 668: 104 5. ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed.2d 674 (1984) set forth the "standard" for all claims of ineffective assistance of counsal. Strickland set forth a two prong test to establish a claim for a violation of this right. "D. to determine wheather counsels conduct was deficient Strickland supra @ 690, 104 5. ct. @ 2052, 2) to show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unproffessional errors, the results of the proceeding would have been different." Strickland supra @ 694, 104 5. ct @ 2052

Counsel's Errors

To establish the first prong of the <u>Strickland</u> test, the appellant will breakdown all errors the appellant feels were deficiant in Counsel's representation of him at the June 28, 2002 revocation hearing.

Failure to investigate the Chain of custody and object to the states admission of the test results

The Mississippi Department of Corrections has in place a standard operating procedure, DOC 26-02 (Attached exhibit A) that governs the collection and testing procedures of wrine samples used by the more to test for usage of illegal drugs among all offenders, incarreended and on some type of supervision. This information would have been relevant to counsels investigation because it outlines all steps in detail of the collection, to chain of custody, to besting, and emphasises " ... testing will only be performed on those specimens handled according to established proceedures" (Ex. A pg. 6, lines 273-75). There are guidelines established within the policy to ensure that every sample is authentic and sealed properly to prevent tampering and/or contamination. The chain of custody" is defined as "A legal term that refers to the ability to trace and safegaurd the specimen from the time it is donated through all the steps in process from collection to reporting the results" (Ex. A. pg 1 In. 13-15). The chain of custody is initiated once the offender submits the sample. The offender will place the tamper evident seal across the cap once the specimen is poured into vial and cap's placed on firmly. The offender will inital the tamper proof seal to verify that it, the sample, is that of the offender. At no time will the witnessing staff touch or handle the specimen untill worth the offender has secured the seal. (Ex. A pg & In. 232-36). "Fach person who handle's the specimen at the unit or during transport must enter their name on the Urinanalysis Chain of Custody form indicating they have checked the security of the seals and assumed responsibility of the sample." (Ex. A. pg. & In. 253-255).

The sample in question was collected on may 1, 2002 by the probation officer at 1335 hrs and placed into cold storage at the same time and date (Records pg. 30D). During the collection of the sample, the appellant poured the sample into a correctly labeled vial. The appellant then placed the cap on the vial untill it snapped into place. There was no tamper evident seal placed over the cap, nor olid the appellant see anyone place anything over the cap. The vini was then given to the probation officer and he placed the sample into the cold storage. This is substantiated by the chain of custody form because the probation officer failed indicate if the sample was sealed. The chain of custody asked if the sample was sealed prior to being placed in cold storage but this is a preprinted circle around the "Y". (Records pg. 30D) There is no indication of the probation officer "checking the security of the seals". The wording of the policy requires at least that. It should be noted that the appellant was under the impression that "sealing the sample" was placing the cap on untill it Snapped into place, since this sample was only the second sample given at the probation office and nothing was done different either time. On the next line of the chain of custody, "LAB" removed the sample from cold storage on May 3, 2002. "LAB" indicated that the sample was sealed. This would indicate that someone sealed the sample after it was placed into cold storage. "Every person who handles the specimen must enter their name on the Urinanalysis Chain of Custody form" according to policy. "LAB" failed to follow the MDOC policy; the even though it could be assumed that H. Stanley collected the Sample. It could also be assumed that someone with the initials LAB coilected the sample. There was no lestimony as to who collected the sample

from cold storage or when, or how the sample got from the cold Storage to the fest site or what Condition the sample was in when it was tested on may 6, 2002 (Records pg. 30C) However the chain of custedy states the test was conducted by H. Stanly on May 3, 2002 (Records pg 30D). The violation report states the test was done on 5-6-02 and the accuall test results say may 6, 2002. (Records pg. 30 C, E). This leaves a suggestion of either a type or there was two different samples. "A defect in the chain of custody arises if there is any suggestion of tampering or substitution of evidence" Wilburn v. State No. 2002 - KA-01117-COA @ 689 9.9 (miss 2003). quoting wells v. State 604 50.2d. 271, 277 (miss 1992) "A showing that there was no break in the chain of custody is required to establishe a sufficient predicate for admission into evidence. The identifacution of the evidence and continuity of possession must be sufficiently established in order to assure the authenticity of the item" morgan v. State 570 50.2d. 859 @ 860 (Ala. Cr. App. 1990). The ability to trace and safegourd the sample from the time of collection to reporting the results were severly deficient in this case. "Testing will only be conducted on those specimens handled according to established procedures and specimens may be rejected if all established procedures have not been followed correctly in chocumentation and obtaining the specimen" (Ex. Apg 7 lines 273-75). "A chemical analysis of a persons ... urine is deemed valid only when performed according to apposed methods ... " Miss Code Anno. 63-11-19; Johnston v. State 567 Su. 2d. 237 @ 238 n. 2,3 (miss 1990)

[&]quot;The test for improper chain of custody is weather there is any

wilburn v. State supra @ 17.9, quoting with or substitution of evidence"

Wilburn v. State supra @ 17.9, quoting williams v. State 794 50.2d.

181, 185 (miss 2001). The petition to revocate probation, (Records pg 30 17-8) which counsed should have easily gotton before the hearing, was typed and signed by probation officer Jimmy Shows on May 5, 2002. The Circuit court acknowledges this may 5, 2002 date in its answer to the post-conviction (Records pg. 38, 30 paragraph), "on may 5, 2002 the state filed a second petition to revocate probation."

The dates in this case are especially crutial and a guick reveius are as follows: 1) May 1, 2002, the appellant submitted a urine sample to the probation officer that was not sealed or initiated properly according to the MDDC policy. The probation officer failed to indicate if the sample was properly sealed in order to start the chain of custody. 2.) On May 3, 2002. "LAB" removed a properly secled sample from cold storage. According to the chain of custody this sample was tested on this date, May 3, 2002. There is no test results for this sample tested on May 3, 2002 in the record. 3) on May 5, 2002 the probation officer prepared and signed a petition to revocete probation stating that the appellant tested positive on 5-102 for THC. Please note the date was changed to solve 5-1-02 but originally stated 5-6-02, the date the test results stated (Records 30N-F) The state contends that a sample was tested on 5-6-02 and the results of that test were positive for THC. (Transcripts pg 20 lines 18-20)

These are serious deficiencys in the chain of custody that question the accuracy of the sample. Appellant does not argue that this could have been, and should have, been brought up at the hearing.

However counsel failed to investigate these relevant facts. "Physical evidence Should be a focal point of defense counsels pre-trial investigation and analysis of the Matter?" Pavel v. Hollins 261 F.3d. 210 @ 224 (2nd Cir. 2001). "Counsel's investigation is not reasonable within the meaning of Strictland supra, when facts of a case supply him with notice that a particular line of the pre-trial investigation that may substantially benifit his client and counsel does not pursue of", Pavell supra @ 225 citing Holladay v. Haley 209 F.3d. 1243, 1251-52 (11th Cir. 2000)

But it does not stop there, had counsel investigated a "matter of low", counsel would have found the relevant ms Code Ann. 63-11-19 (1972) "A chemical analysis of a person's ... wrine is deemed valid only when ... performed on a machine certified to be accurate. The machine must be certified at least quarterly: Quarterly means at least every 90 days, quoting Johnston v. State 567 Sc. 2d. 237 @ 238 (miss 1990) According to the testimony of H. Stanley, the state's witness, "We have an engineer come from the manufacture every 180 days ... he was in here earlier this month, and the machine is in peak operating condition." (Transcripts pg 24 In. 14-18). Please note the revocation hearing was on June 28, 2002 and the engineer from the manufacture certified the machine earlier that month. The sample was tested on May 6, 2002, on the outside bubble of the manufactures certification but well after the 90 day requirement of the law of the state. This argument would be most to due to the Statue is under the impled DUI laws but the plain language of the statue specifically states "A chemical analysis of a persons breath, blood or wrine", which is exactly what the MDOC does to test for drugs.

In light of all the errors in the chain of Custody, errors in the dating of the tests, the extreme foresight of the probation officer and the violations of mississippi law. It is easy to see that Counsel was constitutionally deficient in his investigation of the relevant facts surrounding the case. Because of counsel's lack of "due dilligence" in the investigation; counsel was unable to make any strategic decission:

"In decision based on strategicance of relevant facts: .. was not based on strategic considerations" kimmelman v. Morrisen 477 4.5.7365

382, 106 s.cl. 2574, 91 L. Ed. 2d. 305 @ 368 (1986). "Strategic choices made after a thorough investigation of law and facts relevant to plausable options are virtually unchallengable" Strickland 466 US.

If all relevant facts had been investigated properly, any competant counsel would have challenged the chain of custody and in light of all the evidence available to counsel at the time of the hearing, had it been brought to the light at the revocation hearing would have adversly changed the outcome of the hearing. In <u>Blendon v. State</u> No. 9b-KA-01339 sensolodated with 97-KA-00073-5cT, 748 5b. Zd. 77 @ P. 10 "the trial court granted the defense motion... to exclude the results of the blood tests. The trial court found that the crime lab failed to follow its policy". "This Court has recognized that an agency's interpretation of its own standards and pregulations is controlling, unless such interpretation tation is clearly erronous." Blenden supra @ 85 P.28.

to explain test results

It is easy to see the defense counsel's position, (Transcripts pa 413-54) after reveiwing the transcripts, that due to the appellants obesity that the THC was still in his system and the appellant never used marijuana after the April, 8, 2002 revocation hearing. Counsel could not have had the neccessary education or the experience to corroborate the defense's position. (transcripts pg. il line 28-29; pg 12 line 1-4, pg 31 lines 10-14; pg. 26 lines 28-29 thru pg 27 lines 1-11). The trial judge also started that there is "no evidence before the court" to support \$ defenses position (transcripts pg 53 lines 3-7) and then again afterwords (transcripts pg 56 lns. 10-12) In order to prove this counsel needed an expert witness to testify to exactly that. Counsel accually argued that one was not needed (transcripts pg 48 lines 27-28). "There are many ways to properly assist a client, but making important decisions with no regained for a clients intrests is not one of them " Pavell v. Hollins 261 F.3d. 210 @ 219. "Having chosen to pursue a particular line et defense counsel did not intro-duce readily available evidence that was would have corroborated that line of defense and there was no plausible Strategic reason for counsel not introducing the evidence" Pavell supra @ 223 quoting Harte v. Gomez 174 F. 38. 1067 (9th Cir 1999). This Honorable Court found in Stringer v. State 1027 50.2d. 324 (miss 1993) that counsel was ineffective for failing to subpoena witnesses for his defense.

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