IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JOHN PAUL WALLACE

VS.

APPELLANT

FILED

NO. 2007-CP-0766-COA

NOV 3 0 2007 OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: BILLY L. GORE SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Fact-finding made by the circuit judge in denying post-conviction relief was neither "clearly erroneous" nor "manifestly wrong." Hersick v. State, 904 So.2d 116, 125 (Miss. 2004); McGaughy v. State, 954 So.2d 452, 453 (Ct.App.Miss. 2006); Ruff v. State, 910 So.2d 1160, 1161 (Ct.App.Miss. 2005); Hunt v. State, 874 So.2d 448, 452 (Ct.App. Miss. 2004).

Judge Terry applied the correct legal standard in finding as a fact and concluding as a matter of law that " \ldots Wallace's probation revocation was due to his continued use of an illegal substance and cannot be attributed to his counsel's alleged inactions." (C.P. at 38-40; appellee's exhibit <u>A</u>, attached.)

Stated differently, Judge Terry found as a fact and concluded as a matter of law that counsel's performance was neither deficient nor did any deficiency prejudice Wallace.

Judge Terry found as a fact that Wallace admitted he lied to the Court about his drug use and confessed to the court his use of marijuana. (C.P. at 38)

Judge Terry also found as a fact that "... Wallace's attorney filed a motion to have Wallace's urine sample from May 1, 2002(,) reexamined by an independent laboratory of Wallace's choice and to have a new urine sample taken and tested." (C.P. at 39; R. 12)

Judge Terry found as a fact that "[t]he tests performed by Dynacare came back positive for marijuana for the May 1, 2002[,] sample . . ." (C.P. at 39) and that "... Wallace had violated the conditions of his probation . . ."

The court thereafter sentenced Wallace "... to serve ten years day for day in the custody of the MDOC." (C.P. at 17-18)

These findings were neither clearly erroneous nor manifestly wrong; rather, they were supported by both substantial and credible evidence. Indeed, Wallace's admissions to the violation is both loud and clear. (R. 2-4) The record reflects Judge Terry, in revoking probation, relied upon Wallace's admissions made under oath as well as the results of an independent test requested by defense counsel. (C.P. at 55-56)

In short, Judge Terry was eminently correct and did not err in rejecting Wallace's postconviction claims because they were plainly without merit.

Finally, it would appear that Wallace's post-conviction complaint is procedurally barred because his motion for post-conviction relief was filed more than three (3) years after the entry of the order revoking his probation and ordering Wallace to serve, day for day, his ten (10) year concurrent sentences. (C.P. at 31)

ARGUMENT

WALLACE'S MOTION FOR POST-CONVICTION COLLATERAL RELIEF WAS PROPERLY DENIED WITHOUT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING BECAUSE IT, *INTER ALIA*, WAS TIME-BARRED.

JUDGE TERRY'S FINDING OF FACT THAT WALLACE'S PROBATION REVOCATION WAS DUE TO HIS CONTINUED USE OF AN ILLEGAL SUBSTANCE WAS NOT CLEARLY ERRONEOUS.

JUDGE TERRY'S CONCLUSION OF LAW THAT WALLACE WAS NOT DENIED THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL WAS BOTH JUDICIOUS AND CORRECT.

Wallace, whose motion for post-conviction relief was denied after the State filed its Answer,

claims the lawyer who represented him at his probation revocation hearing was ineffective in the

constitutional sense because he, *inter alia*, (1) failed to investigate the test results, (2) failed to call an expert witness to challenge the test results, (3) elicited damaging testimony during his crossexamination of the state's witnesses, (4) failed to attack the credibility of the State's witnesses, (5) failed to object to certain discovery violations concerning a post-sentence report, and (6) failed to file a timely motion to reconsider.

Wallace invites this Court to "reverse and remand the decission [sic] of the Harrison County Circuit Court for further proceedings." (Brief for the Appellant at 34)

First, some preliminary considerations.

Unlike many other proceedings involving those caught up in the criminal justice system, there is no automatic right to counsel at hearings for the revocation of probation. *See* **Riely v. State**, 562 So.2d 1206, 1209 (Miss. 1990). A probationer has the right to be appointed counsel at a revocation hearing when the issues are complex or otherwise difficult to develop. *Id*.

The issues involved here were neither overly complex nor excruciatingly difficult to develop, and Wallace was probably not entitled to appointed counsel. *See* **Riely v. State**, 562 So.2d 1206, 1209 (Miss. 1990), where we find the following language:

> All this notwithstanding, probationers (and parolees) do not "have, *per se*, a right to counsel at revocation hearings." *Lassiter v. Department of Social Servs.*, 452 U.S. 18, 26, 101 S.Ct. 2153, 2159, 68 L.Ed.2d 640, 649 (1981) (citing *Gagnon v. Scarpelli*, 411 U.S. 778, 93 S.Ct. 1756, 36 L.Ed.2d 656 (1973)); *see Ex parte Laird*, 305 So.2d 357, 358 (1974) (discussing *Gagnon*). Whether probationers have a right to counsel must be answered "on a case-by-case basis in the exercise of a sound discretion by the state authority charged with responsibility for administering the probation and parole system." *Gagnon*, 411 U.S. at 790, 93 S.Ct. at 1763, 36 L.Ed.2d at 666; *see Lassiter*, 452 U.S. at 26, 101 S.Ct. at 2159, 68 L.Ed.2d at 649; see also *Mempa v. Rhay*, 389 U.S. 128, 88 S.Ct. 254, 19 L.Ed.2d 336 (1967) (holding that a probationer is entitled to be represented by appointed counsel at a combined revocation and

sentencing hearing - unless probationer was sentenced at the time of trial). Because the "facts and circumstances in [revocation] hearings are susceptible of almost infinite variation," the United States Supreme Court opined that "[i]t is neither possible nor prudent to attempt to formulate a precise and detailed set of guidelines" for determining when counsel must be provided in order to meet due process requirements. Gagnon, 411 U.S. at 790, 93 S.Ct. at 1764, 93 L.Ed.2d at 666. "Presumptively, it may be said that counsel should be provided in cases [which, for example, are] . . . complex or otherwise difficult to develop." Id. at 790-91, 93 S.Ct. at 1764, 36 L.Ed.2d 656, 666-67 (1973) (also noting that counsel should be provided in cases where, "after being informed of his right to request counsel, the probationer or parolee makes such a request, based on a timely and colorable claim"); see Ex parte Laird, 305 So.2d at 358 ("[T]he [parole] hearing officer violated the rules of the Probation and Parole Board when he did not permit the attorney who appeared for petitioner to participate in the proceedings.") Finally, "[i]n every case in which a request for counsel at a . . . hearing is refused, the grounds for refusal should be stated succinctly in the record." Gagnon, 411 U.S. at 791, 93 S.Ct. at 1764, 36 L.Ed.2d at 666-67.

In sum, provision of representation at the first three hearings was neither requested nor necessitated in view of the facts and applicable law. **Indeed, the case was not "complex or otherwise difficult to develop."** And as noted, counsel was provided upon request by Riely prior to the fourth hearing and prior to his appeal to this Court. Therefore, this Court holds that Riely's allegation of error is devoid of merit. [emphasis ours]

Wallace, we note had retained counsel (C.P. at 6, para. V. 10.) as well as competent counsel

representing him at the revocation hearing. Indeed, Judge Terry noted in his order denying relief that

"Wallace's attorney filed a motion to have Wallace's urine sample from May 1, 2002[,] reexamined

by an independent laboratory of Wallace's choice and to have a new urine sample taken and tested."

(C.P. at 39)

Second, an order revoking probation and suspended sentence is not appealable. Griffin v.

State, 382 So.2d 289 (Miss. 1980); Pipkin v. State, 292 So.2d 181 (Miss. 1974); Ray v. State, 229

So.2d 579 (Miss. 1969). Cf. Bobkoskie v. State, 495 So.2d 497, 499 (Miss. 1986) ["(A)n order

revoking parole is not appealable."]

Wallace, in effect, has filed a direct appeal from probation revocation masquerading as a motion for post-conviction relief.

Third, it appears to us that Wallace's post-conviction complaint was time barred by virtue

of the post-conviction relief act.

Miss. Code Ann. 99-39-5(1)(g)(i)(2) reads, in its pertinent parts, as follows:

(1) Any prisoner in custody under sentence of a court of record of the state of Mississippi who claims:

* * * * * *

(g) That his sentence has expired; his probation, parole or conditional release unlawfully revoked; or he is otherwise unlawfully held in custody;

* * * * * *

(I) * * * may file a motion to vacate, set aside or correct the judgment or sentence, or for an out-of-time appeal.

(2) A motion for relief under this chapter shall be made within three (3) years after the time in which the prisoner's direct appeal is ruled upon by the supreme court of Mississippi or, in case no appeal is taken, within three (3) years after the time for taking an appeal from the judgment of conviction or sentence has expired, or in case of a guilty plea within three (3) years after entry of the judgment of conviction. * * *

Wallace entered his plea of guilty on February 25, 2002. His probation was revoked

on June 28, 2002, following a probation revocation hearing conducted on that date.

Wallace's motion for post-conviction relief was not filed until February 21, 2006, more than three (3) years after the time for filing for post-conviction relief had, we respectfully submit, expired. Wallace is not complaining about an illegal sentence following probation revocation but ineffective representation by counsel during the revocation hearing. We submit this issue must be time-barred. Post-conviction claims based on involuntary guilty pleas and ineffective assistance of counsel are subject to the three (3) year statute of limitations and the time bar. Luckett v. State, 582 So.2d 428 (Miss. 1991); Wallace v. State, 823 So.2d 580 (Ct.App.Miss. 2002).

These initial observations, in our opinion, simply detract from the vitality of Wallace's post-conviction complaint. If Wallace was not entitled as a matter of right to court-appointed counsel at his revocation hearing, we have difficulty envisioning how he could have been prejudiced by the representation of retained counsel.

In any event, time bar, *et cetera* notwithstanding, we submit the fact-finding made by the circuit judge in denying post-conviction relief was neither "clearly erroneous" nor "manifestly wrong." Hersick v. State, 904 So.2d 116, 125 (Miss. 2004); McGaughy v. State, 954 So.2d 452, 453 (Ct.App.Miss. 2006); Ruff v. State, 910 So.2d 1160, 1161 (Ct.App.Miss. 2005); Hunt v. State, 874 So.2d 448, 452 (Ct.App. Miss. 2004).

Did Wallace violate the terms and conditions of his probation?

Indeed, there can be no question about it. Wallace, under the trustworthiness of the official oath, freely and voluntarily confessed to the court that he did. (R. 43-44, 55) Judge Terry, who presided over both probation revocation hearings as well as the guilty pleaqualification hearing, thereafter revoked Wallace's probation and imposed the previously suspended sentence.

"When reviewing a lower court's decision to deny a petition for post conviction relief this Court will not disturb the trial court's factual findings unless they are found to be clearly erroneous." Willis v. State, 821 So.2d 888, 889 (Ct.App.Miss. 2002), quoting from Brown v. State, 731 So.2d 595, 598 (¶6) (Miss. 1999).

10

Judge Terry's finding that ". . . Wallace's probation revocation was due to his continued use of an illegal substance and cannot be attributed to his counsel's alleged inactions" is a finding of fact that will not be reversed unless clearly erroneous or manifestly wrong.

It wasn't.

Judge Terry's implicit findings, *first*, that counsel's representation did not fall below an objective standard of reasonableness and, *second*, that Wallace failed to demonstrate there was a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different, was both judicious and correct.

Wallace, via post-conviction counsel, filed an impressive motion for post-conviction relief, replete with exhibits, in the trial court. Wallace, via his own hand or the pen of his writ writer has drafted a decent brief on appeal.

Wallace's free and voluntary admissions, together with the results of a subsequent urinalysis detecting the presence of THC, make it is difficult to find error in the decision of the trial judge to revoke Wallace's probation and suspended sentence for failure to abide by some, but not all, of the terms and conditions of his probation.

We reiterate.

"When a trial court has denied a petition for post-conviction relief, this court will examine whether the denial is clearly erroneous." **Bilbo v. State**, 881 So.2d 966, 967 (¶ 3) (Ct.App.Miss. 2004), citing **Kirksey v. State**, 728 So.2d 565, 567 (¶ 3) (Miss 1999).

The burden is upon Wallace to prove by a preponderance of the evidence he is entitled to post-conviction relief. **Bilbo v. State**, *supra*, 881 So.2d at 967 citing Miss.Code Ann. §99-39-23(7) (Rev.2000).

11

Wallace suggests this Court should grant him a new probation revocation hearing or, if not, to at least remand the case for an evidentiary hearing.

Not every motion for post-conviction relief filed in the trial court must be afforded a full adversarial hearing. Jones v. State, 795 So.2d 589 (Miss. 2001). Defendants must show compelling reasons why the trial court should conduct an evidentiary hearing. Crouch v. State, 826 So.2d 772 (Ct.App.Miss. 2002).

Wallace has failed to do so here.

"In the review of proceedings for post-conviction relief, this Court shall apply the substantial evidence/clearly erroneous test, thus limiting [this court's] scope of review." **Reed v. State,** 799 So.2d 92, 94 (Ct.App.Miss. 2001) citing **McClendon v. State,** 539 So.2d 1375, 1377 (Miss. 1989).

Judge Terry asserted in his order he had "... reviewed the transcript from the June 28, 2002[,] revocation hearing and finds no evidence that Wallace's counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness or that, but for counsel's errors, Wallace's probation would not have been revoked." (C.P. at 40; appellee's exhibit <u>A</u>, attached)

The fact-finding and legal conclusion reached by Judge Terry was not "clearly erroneous."

Mr. McKoin, we note, gave a reasonable explanation for the absence of his expert witness. (R. 48-49)

Judge Terry properly dismissed, without the benefit of an evidentiary hearing, Wallace's motion for post-conviction collateral relief because his claims, although sincere, were without legal merit. Miss.Code Ann. §99-39-11(2); §99-39-19; §99-39-5.

Miss.Code Ann. § 99-39-11 reads, in its entirety, as follows:

(1) The original motion together with all the files, records, transcripts and correspondence relating to the judgment under attack, shall be examined promptly by the judge to whom it is assigned.

(2) If it plainly appears from the face of the motion, any annexed exhibits and the prior proceedings in the case that the movant is not entitled to any relief, the judge may make an order for its dismissal and cause the prisoner to be notified.

(3) If the motion is not dismissed under subsection 2 of this section, the judge shall order the state to file an answer or other pleading within the period of time fixed by the court or to take such other action as the judge deems appropriate.

(4) This section shall not be applicable where an application for leave to proceed is granted by the supreme court under section 99-39-27. [emphasis added]

After requiring the State to file an Answer, Judge Terry dismissed Wallace's motion

for post-conviction relief by virtue of the authority granted in Miss.Code Ann. §99-39-19

which states, in part, that "... the judge, after the answer is filed and discovery, if any, is

completed, shall, upon a review of the record, determine whether an evidentiary hearing is

required [and] [i] fit appears that an evidentiary hearing is not required, the judge shall make

such disposition of the motion as justice shall require."

It wasn't, it did, and he made.

CONCLUSION

Appellee respectfully submits this case is devoid of any error. Accordingly, dismissal

of Wallace's motion for post-conviction relief should be forthwith affirmed.